

HOKKAIDO UNIVERSITY

Title	5-HT release from chemoreceptor cells in the chicken thoracic aorta
Author(s)	Dugar, Delgermurun
Citation	北海道大学. 博士(獣医学) 甲第12396号
Issue Date	2016-09-26
DOI	10.14943/doctoral.k12396
Doc URL	http://hdl.handle.net/2115/63571
Туре	theses (doctoral)
File Information	Delgermurun_Dugar.pdf



## 5-HT release from chemoreceptor cells in the chicken thoracic aorta

(ニワトリ胸部大動脈の化学受容器細胞からの 5-HT 放出機構に関する研究)

Delgermurun Dugar

## Contents

Abbreviations	
Preface	1
Chapter I	
Effects of 5-HT uptake inhibitors and amphetamine derivatives	
on 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells in chicken thoracic aorta	
1. Introduction	7
2. Materials and Methods	9
2.1. Animals	9
2.2. Preparation of aortic tissue	9
2.3. Measurement of 5-HT outflow	10
2.4. Drugs	14
2.5. Data analysis	14
3. Results	15
3.1. Time- dependent outflow of 5-HT by PCA	15
3.2. Temperature-dependent outflow of 5-HT by PCA and CLM	15
3.3. Concentration-dependent outflow of 5-HT by amphetamine derivatives	
and 5-HT uptake inhibitors	18
3.4. Extracellular $Ca^{2+}$ -independent outflow of 5-HT by amphetamine	
derivatives and 5-HT uptake inhibitors	20
3.5. Extracellular NaCl-dependent outflow of 5-HT by CLM but not PCA	21
4. Discussion	26

## Chapter II

## Effects of $H_2S$ on 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells in

#### chicken thoracic aorta

1. Introduction		
2. Materials and Methods		
2.1. Animals	33	
2.2. Preparation of aortic tissue	33	
2.3. Measurement of 5-HT outflow	33	
2.4. Immunohistochemistry	33	
2.5. Drugs	34	
2.6. Data analysis	35	
3. Results	36	
3.1. Concentration-dependent outflow of 5-HT by $H_2S$	36	
3.2. Extracellular $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent outflow of 5-HT by $H_2S$	36	
3.3. Contribution of voltage-dependent Ca <sup>2+</sup> channels		
to outflow of 5-HT by $H_2S$	39	
3.4. Contribution of TRPA1 channels to outflow of 5-HT by $H_2S$	39	
3.5. Concentration-dependent outflow of 5-HT by cinnamaldehyde	42	
3.6. Concentration-dependent outflow of 5-HT by $Na_2S_3$	44	
3.7. Expression of TRPA 1 in 5-HT-containing cells	44	
4. Discussion	49	

Conclusion	54
Summary	55
Acknowledgments	58
References	59

## Abbreviations

AADC	Aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase
ACh	Acetylcholine
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
CBS	Cystathionine $-\beta$ -synthase
CHO cells	Chinese hamster ovary cells
CNS	Central nervous system
CLM	Clomipramine
CSE	Cystathionine-γ-lyase
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
5-HT	5-Hydroxytriptamine
5-HIAA	5-Hydroxyindoleacetic acid
5-HTP	5-Hydroxytriptophan
MAO	Monoamine oxidase
MET	Methamphetamine
3-MST	3-Mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCA	para-Chloroamphetamine
SERT	Serotonin transporter
SRI	Serotonin reuptake inhibitor
SSRI	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
TCA	Tricyclic antidepressant
ТРН	Tryptophan hydroxylase

Trp	Tryptophan
TRP	Transient receptor potential
TRPA1	Transient receptor potential ankyrin 1
TRPV1	Transient receptor potential vanilloid 1
VMAT	Vesicular monoamine transporter
$[Ca^{2+}]_i$	Intracellular Ca <sup>2+</sup> concentration

#### Preface

5-Hydroxytriptamine (5-HT, serotonin) is a neurotransmitter. 5-HT is localized in three essential pools in the body. First, a large amount of 5-HT is found in the enterochromaffin cells of the mucosal epithelium, which are scattered along the gastrointestinal tract. Second, about 10% of 5-HT is concentrated in blood platelets, which do not synthesize 5-HT but incorporate it from blood. Third, a small amount of 5-HT is found in the raphe nuclei neurons of the central nervous system (CNS), the axons of which innervate various regions of the CNS including the spinal cord. In addition, 5-HT is also stored in the rodent mast cells along with histamine and heparin. 5-HT is synthesized from the dietary tryptophan with enzymatic reaction (Walther et al., 2003) (Fig. 1), and stored into secretory vesicles via vesicular monoamine transporter (VMAT) in neuronal cells. 5-HT is released by Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent exocytotic and then incorporated into cells by serotonin transporters (SERT) or metabolized to 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA) by monoamine oxidase (MAO) (Fig. 2). In addition to the exocytotic release, the impairments of these transports and/or metabolic processes could evoke the outflow of 5-HT.

The epithelioid cells in the luminal wall of the chicken thoracic aorta also contain 5-HT (Yamamoto et al., 1989). These cells aggregate into clusters and form a band of about 1 mm in width (Fig. 3), which has been advocated as the term "chemoreceptive ring" because of their similar morphological and functional characteristics to mammalian carotid chemoreceptor cells (Miyoshi et al., 1995; Ito et al., 2001). In mammals, there are two primary chemoreceptor organs in the peripheral



5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA)



Fig. 1. 5-HT synthesis and metabolism

Tryptophan (Trp) is hydroxylated to 5-hydroxytriptophan (5-HTP) by tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH). 5-Hydroxytriptamine (5-HT) is produced from 5-HTP by aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase (AADC). 5-HT is metabolized to 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA) by monoamine oxidase (MAO).



Fig. 2. Pathways of 5-HT synthesis, metabolism and transport in the neuron

5-HT is synthesized from Trp with an enzymatic reaction and transported from the cytoplasm into the secretory vesicles and stored by VMAT. 5-HT is released by exocytosis and then incorporated into the cells by SERT or metabolized to 5-HIAA by MAO.



Fig. 3. Location of chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta

Schematic illustration shows the localization of chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta (red dot). Chemoreceptor cells in the thoracic aorta are located near the ligamenta arteriosa. Carotid bodies are located near the carotid bifurcation of common carotid artery. Lower image shows the wall of the thoracic aorta stained with Neutral Red. Acidic secretory vesicles containing 5-HT are red-coloured. tissues, i.e., carotid and aortic bodies. These bodies are mainly composed of two types of cells: glomus or type I cells, which exhibit a neuronal phenotype, and the sustentacular or type II cells, which resemble glial cells of the nervous system. The glomus cells of carotid body are closely associated with cuplike endings of afferent nerves. They sense changes in plasma  $P_{02}$ ,  $P_{C02}$  and pH, and then release some transmitters such as dopamine and noradrenaline, which activate the sensory nerve endings (Gonzalez et al., 1994). In the chicken carotid bodies, 5-HT has been reported to be a dominant transmitter (Yamamoto et al., 1989). In mammals, the structure of parenchymal chemoreceptor glomus or type I cells in aortic body and their innervation are indistinguishable from those of the carotid body (Piskuric and Nurse, 2012; McDonald and Blewett, 1981) and in both cases, the type I cells express multiple neurotransmitters, acetylcholine (ACh), 5-HT and ATP (Dvorakova and Kummer, 2005; Piskuric and Nurse, 2013). However, the physiological function of aortic body remains controversial compared with carotid body in mammals.

Our laboratory has previously reported that the epithelioid cells in the chicken thoracic aorta release 5-HT in response to various stimuli such as depolarization and hypoxia. In addition, these 5-HT-containing cells express neuronal nicotinic ACh receptors and voltage-dependent Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>, and Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (Ito et al., 1997, 1999, 2001). Therefore, these data suggest that 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta have similar mechanisms responsible for 5-HT transport, storage and release to those in 5-HT-containing neurons.

In Chapter I, to reveal whether the chicken aortic chemoreceptor cells had a 5-HT transporter and storage activity like 5-HT-containing neurons in the CNS, the effects of 5-HT uptake inhibitors and amphetamine derivatives (5-HT transporter

inhibitors and VMAT inhibitors, respectively) on 5-HT outflow from these cells were examined.

Recently, it has been reported that hydrogen sulfide ( $H_2S$ ) is one of the key factors for hypoxia sensing in rat carotid glomus cells (Makarenko et al., 2012). In rodent carotid glomus cells, hypoxia triggers the synthesis of  $H_2S$ , which increases catecholamine release (Makarenko et al., 2012). Exogenous  $H_2S$  also activates carotid body type 1 cells in rat, cat, and rabbit (Buckler, 2012; Jiao et al., 2015).

In Chapter II, thus, the effect of  $H_2S$  on 5-HT release from the chemoreceptor cells in the chicken thoracic aorta was examined.

Most of the materials contained in this thesis have been already published in the following papers.

- Delgermurun D, Ito S, Ohta T, Yamaguchi S, Otsuguro K (2016). Endogenous 5-HT outflow from chicken aorta by 5-HT uptake inhibitors and amphetamine derivatives. *J Vet Med Sci* 78: 71-76.
- Delgermurun D, Yamaguchi S, Ichii O, Kon Y, Ito S, Otsuguro K (2016). Hydrogen sulfide activates TRPA1 and releases 5-HT from epithelioid cells of the chicken thoracic aorta. *Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol* 187: 43-49.

#### **Chapter I**

Effects of 5-HT uptake inhibitors and amphetamine derivatives on 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells in chicken thoracic aorta

#### **1. Introduction**

5-HT is a monoamine neurotransmitter which plays many important roles in physiological and pathological processes such as sleep, sensory perception, cognition, motor activity, appetite, mood and behavior (Adams, 2009). Abnormalities in 5-HT production or metabolism make some behavioral problems or diseases. For example, lower level of 5-HT in the CNS is involved in aggressive behavior (Reisner et al., 1996).

Epithelioid cells containing 5-HT aggregate into clusters and form a band of about 1 mm in width in the wall of the chicken thoracic aorta (Yamamoto et al., 1989; Miyoshi et al., 1995). These 5-HT containing cells are chemoreceptors because oxygen-sensitive K<sup>+</sup> currents and the release of 5-HT by hypoxia have been observed (Ito et al., 1997, 1999). Like neuron, the neuronal nicotinic ACh receptors and voltage-dependent Na<sup>+</sup>, Ca<sup>2+</sup> and K<sup>+</sup> channels are present on these chemoreceptor cells (Ito et al., 1999, 2001). From these facts, it is likely that the chicken aortic chemoreceptor cells have similar mechanisms of 5-HT transport activity to those in 5-HT-containing neurons in mammals. However, these issues have not been addressed.

In 5-HT-containing neurons, cytosolic 5-HT is transported into the secretory vesicles by VMAT, and then released by exocytosis. 5-HT is mainly degraded by MAO or incorporated into the cells by 5-HT transporters. 5-HT uptake inhibitors or

serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SRIs) inhibit cellular membrane 5-HT transporters and are typically used as antidepressants in the treatment of depression and other neurological disorders such as aggression, obsessive-compulsive disorder and anxiety disorders (Dodman et al., 1996; Seksel and Lindeman, 2001; Fitzgerald and Bronstein, 2013). Fluvoxamine and fluoxetine are selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs). SSRIs increase extracellular level of 5-HT by inhibiting the reuptake of 5-HT in the neurons (Bel and Artigas, 1996; Tatsumi et al., 1997; Hiemke and Hartter, 2000; Nagayasu et al., 2013). Clomipramine (CLM) is a tricyclic antidepressant (TCA), which inhibits the reuptake of 5-HT and norepinephrine. CLM is the most potent 5-HT uptake inhibitor among the TCAs (Sherman and Papich, 2009). Amphetamine derivatives such as PCA and MET inhibit VMAT and MAO, resulting in a rise in cytosolic 5-HT and then elicitation of 5-HT outflow from them into synaptic regions (Sulzer et al., 2005; Fleckenstein et al., 2009; Heal et al., 2013).

The aim of this study is to examine whether 5-HT-containing cells in the chicken aorta had a 5-HT transport activity like 5-HT-containing neurons in the CNS. For this purpose, the effects of 5-HT uptake inhibitors (fluvoxamine, fluoxetine and CLM) and amphetamine derivatives (PCA and MET) on the outflow of 5-HT from the chicken thoracic aorta were examined.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Animals

Newly-hatched chickens (White Leghorn, Julia) were purchased from Iwamura Poultry (Yuni, Japan). They were housed in a room with 12/12 h light/dark cycle at 22 ± 4°C, and were given food and water ad libitum. In addition, a heat lamp was used to warm newborn chicks. All experiments were performed under the regulation of the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine, Hokkaido University, Japan (Approval ID: 13-0022). The animal facilities and animal care programs are accredited by AAALAC international in the USA.

#### 2.2. Preparation of aortic tissue

Male chickens (14-28 days after hatching) were deeply anesthetized by placing them in a small chamber in which ether or isoflurane was vaporized, and then decapitated. The 5-HT-containing cells aggregate in clusters in the inner wall of the chicken thoracic aorta as a "chemoreceptive ring" (Miyoshi et al., 1995). The thoracic aorta was isolated and freed from surrounding tissues under a stereomicroscope. Aortic strips (about 5 mm in length) with a chemoreceptor ring were cut longitudinally to open them and kept in oxygenated Hepes-buffered saline solution on ice until use. Hepes-buffered saline with the following composition was used (mM): NaCl 140, KCl 6, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 2.5, MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1.2, Hepes 10, and glucose 10. The pH was

adjusted to 7.3 with NaOH. In a  $Ca^{2+}$ -free solution,  $CaCl_2$  was removed and 0.5 mM EGTA was added. In a low NaCl solution, NaCl was iso-osmotically replaced with sucrose.

#### 2.3. Measurement of 5-HT outflow

The aortic strip was placed in a sample tube containing ice-cold Hepes-buffered saline solution (0.1 ml) with or without drugs and then incubated at 37°C for 10 min. In some experiments, temperature or incubation time was altered. The secretory response of 5-HT was terminated by placing the tubes on ice. After stopping the secretory response, the aortic tissue was transferred to another sample tube containing 0.4 N perchloric acid (0.2 ml) to extract 5-HT and 5-HIAA that remained in the tissue. To measure the amounts of 5-HT and 5-HIAA in the incubation medium, 4 N perchloric acid (10 µl) was added to the medium to obtain a final concentration of 0.4 N. After centrifugation of the sample tube containing tissue extract or incubation medium, K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> was added to the supernatant to obtain a final concentration of 580 mM (pH 5-6). After removal of potassium percolate by centrifugation, the clear supernatant was subjected to high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The mobile phase consisted of a citric acid buffer (0.1 M citric acid, 0.1 M sodium acetate; pH 3.5), 19% methanol, 5 mg/l EDTA-2Na, and 190 mg/l 1-octanesulfonic acid. The mobile phase was degassed using DG-350 (EICOM, Kyoto, Japan), at a flow rate of 0.5 ml/min. The samples (50 µl) were applied using an autosampler (System 33, Instruments model Tokyo, Japan) to an

octadecylsilane-column (EICOMPAK SC-50DS,  $3.0 \times 150$  mm, EICOM) kept at 30°C, and 5-HT and 5-HIAA were detected at +450 mV with an electrochemical detector (ECD-300, EICOM).

The retention times were about 7 and 11 min for 5-HIAA and 5-HT, respectively (Fig. 4). The standard solutions (100, 200, 300, 400 and 500 nM) of 5-HT and 5-HIAA were applied to HPLC before and after the sample injection. The averages of 5-HT and 5-HIAA peak areas were used in order to construct a calibration curve (Fig. 5). The area under the curve of the peak was measured to calculate the amount of 5-HT and 5-HIAA.

5-HT outflow was expressed as a percentage of total 5-HT content in the aortic strip. The sum of the amounts of 5-HT and 5-HIAA in the tissue and incubation medium (supernatant) was regarded as the amount of 5-HT. The ratio of 5-HT outflow (%) was determined by dividing the amount of 5-HT in the supernatant by the total 5-HT (in the tissue and supernatant) as follows.

**Amount of 5-HT** = 5HT + 5HIAA

Outflow of 5-HT (% of content) = -

Supernatant

\_\_\_\_ x 100

Total 5-HT (Supernatant + tissue)



Fig. 4. Chromatograms for 5-HT and 5-HIAA

Chromatograms of 5-HT and 5-HIAA standard solution. A 50  $\mu$ l aliquot of a standard mixture of 5-HT (100 nM) and 5-HIAA (100 nM) was injected. The retention times for 5-HIAA and 5-HT were 7 min and 11 min, respectively.



Fig. 5. Calibration curves for 5-HT and 5-HIAA.

Calibration curves of 5-HT (A) and 5-HIAA (B). The standard solutions (50  $\mu$ l) of 5-HIAA (100, 200, 300, 400 and 500 nM) were injected to HPLC. The area under the curve of the peak was measured.

Following drugs were used. Methamphetamine (MET) (Sumitomo Dainihon Pharma, Osaka, Japan), *p*-chloroamphetamine (PCA), clomipramine (CLM) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, U.S.A.), fluvoxamine, fluoxetine (Tocris, Bristol, UK), ω-conotoxin GVIA (Peptide Institute, Osaka, Japan), and nifedipine (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Osaka, Japan) were prepared from 0.1 M stock solutions and dissolved in Hepes-buffered saline solution.

#### 2.5. Data analysis

All data were expressed as means  $\pm$ S.E.M. Statistical comparisons between two groups were performed by unpaired Student's *t*-test. For multiple comparisons, one-way ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's test, was used. A P value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

#### **3. Results**

#### 3.1. Time-dependent outflow of 5-HT by PCA

The effect of PCA on 5-HT outflow from the chicken thoracic aorta with a chemoreceptor ring was first examined. PCA has been known as the most potent 5-HT releaser among the amphetamine derivatives (Wichems et al., 1995).

The aortic tissues were incubated at 37°C for various incubation times. The resting outflow of 5-HT (control) gradually increased, and about 5% of 5-HT content in the tissue was effluxed during 20-min incubation (Fig. 6). In the presence of PCA (1 mM), the outflow of 5-HT was around 20% at 20-min incubation. Under this condition, the 10-min incubation was enough to substantially increase 5-HT outflow in response to PCA. In the following experiments, therefore, aortic tissues were incubated for 10 min in the presence of various drugs.

#### 3.2. Temperature-dependent outflow of 5-HT by PCA and CLM

If 5-HT outflow from the chemoreceptor cells induced by PCA and CLM resulted from biological activities such as transporters and metabolic enzymes, it would be dependent on incubation temperature. Therefore, the effect of temperature on 5-HT outflow in the presence of PCA and CLM, a 5-HT reuptake inhibitors, was examined. The resting outflow of 5-HT increased with the increase in temperature from 5 to 37°C (Fig. 7). PCA (1 mM) and CLM (0.1 mM) significantly increased



Fig. 6. Time-dependent outflow of 5-HT from the chicken aorta with a chemoreceptor ring induced by PCA.

The aortic tissues were incubated at 37°C for 5, 10, 15 and 20 min in the presence of PCA. The time-course of the resting outflow (control, n = 4-5) and PCA (1 mM, n = 4-5)-induced outflow of 5-HT. Data are means  $\pm$  S.E.M.



Fig. 7. Temperature-dependent outflow of 5-HT from the chicken aorta with a chemoreceptor ring induced by PCA and CLM.

The aortic tissues were incubated for 10 min at 5, 27 and  $37^{\circ}$ C. Temperature -dependence of resting 5-HT outflow (control, n = 4-8) and PCA (1 mM, n = 4-7) and CLM (0.1 mM, n = 4)-induced 5-HT outflow. Data are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*\*P < 0.01 vs. control (Dunnett's test). 5-HT outflow at 37°C as compared to the control. However, at lower temperatures (5°C and 27°C), both drugs failed to increase 5-HT outflow. These data indicate that 5-HT outflows by PCA and CLM were due to the biological activities but not to the leakage from damaged cells. In addition, it was assumed that 37°C was convenient condition to measure 5-HT outflow.

## 3.3. Concentration-dependent outflow of 5-HT by amphetamine derivatives and 5-HT uptake inhibitors

To investigate whether the chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta had a 5-HT transport and uptake system similar to the 5-HT-containing neurons, the effects of 5-HT uptake inhibitors, fluoxetine, fluvoxamine and CLM and amphetamine derivatives, MET and PCA on 5-HT outflow from chicken thoracic aorta were examined. It has been reported that antidepressants such as fluvoxamine inhibit 5-HT reuptake, and elicit a significant increase in extracellular 5-HT in the vicinity of the dorsal and median raphe nuclei in the CNS (Bel and Artigas, 1992; Fuller, 1994). Amphetamine derivatives also increase extracellular levels of neurotransmitters including 5-HT by promoting reverse transport (efflux) of them through plasma membrane monoamine transporters (Robertson et al., 2009).

The aortic tissues were incubated at 37°C for 10 min with MET, PCA, CLM, fluoxetine or fluvoxamine at various concentrations to examine their effects on 5-HT outflow. The resting outflow of 5-HT varied slightly from preparation to preparation. The resting outflow of 5-HT was  $3.6 \pm 0.6\%$  (n = 4) in the experiments of PCA. PCA (1  $\mu$ M - 1 mM) caused concentration-dependent increases in 5-HT outflow (Fig. 8A),



Fig. 8. Effects of amphetamine derivatives and 5-HT reuptake inhibitors on 5-HT outflow.

The concentration-dependent increases in 5-HT outflow in response to PCA (n = 4-6) and MET (n = 4) (A), and CLM (n = 8), fluvoxamine (n = 8) and fluoxetine (n = 5) for 10 min at 37°C (B). Data are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. Dashed lines indicate upper and lower limits of S.E.M. of the resting outflow (n = 10). \*P < 0.05 vs. the resting outflow (Dunnett's test).

and more than 100  $\mu$ M of PCA caused a significant outflow of 5-HT. MET (1  $\mu$ M - 1 mM) also caused concentration-dependent increases in 5-HT outflow (Fig. 8A), and the secretory response to high concentration of MET (1 mM) was significantly higher than the control. PCA was about ten times more effective in eliciting 5-HT outflow than MET. These results suggest that chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta have a potency of 5-HT secretory response to amphetamine derivatives like neurons.

The resting outflow of 5-HT was  $4.0 \pm 0.4\%$  (n = 10) in the experiments of 5-HT uptake inhibitors. CLM, fluvoxamine and fluoxetine (1  $\mu$ M - 1 mM) also increased 5-HT outflow in concentration-dependent manners (Fig. 8B). The significant secretory responses to CLM and fluoxetine appeared above 0.1 mM, and fluvoxamine at 1 mM. Fluvoxamine at 1 mM was more effective than fluoxetine or CLM at the same concentration. These results suggest that 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta respond to 5-HT uptake inhibitors similar to the neurons in the CNS.

# 3.4. Extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent outflow of 5-HT by amphetamine derivatives and 5-HT uptake inhibitors

The mechanism of 5-HT outflow by amphetamine derivatives is controversial. It has been reported that outflows of 5-HT and dopamine by amphetamine derivatives including PCA and MET are a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent (Crepsi et al., 1997) or an independent manner (Wichems et al., 1995; Crepsi et al., 1997). The effect of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> removal on 5-HT outflow in response to PCA and 5-HT uptake inhibitors was examined (Fig. 9). The resting outflow of 5-HT was not affected by  $Ca^{2+}$  removal. The secretory responses to PCA (1 mM) and 5-HT uptake inhibitors (0.1 mM), CLM, fluoxetine and fluvoxamine, were also not significantly attenuated by the removal of extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ .

Next, the effect of voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  channel blockers on 5-HT outflow induced by PCA was examined (Fig. 10). The response to PCA (1 mM) was not affected by  $\varphi$ -conotoxin GVIA (1  $\mu$ M), an N-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channel blocker, and nifedipine (1  $\mu$ M), an L-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channel blocker, the concentration of which effectively inhibited 5-HT outflow induced by excess KCl (Ito et al., 1999).

These results suggest that extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ -independent mechanisms are involved in 5-HT outflow induced by PCA and 5-HT uptake inhibitors from chicken aortic chemoreceptor cells.

#### 3.5. Extracellular NaCl-dependent outflow of 5-HT by CLM but not PCA

It is reported that 5-HT is taken up into the cells through 5-HT transporters in an extracellular NaCl-dependent manner (Rudnick and Wall, 1992; Seidel et al., 2005; Sitte et al., 2001). Therefore, the effects of changes in extracellular concentration of NaCl on 5-HT outflow in response to PCA and CLM were examined (Fig. 11). When NaCl was substituted by sucrose, the resting 5-HT outflow in the presence of NaCl at 10 mM or absence of NaCl appeared to be greater, but not significantly, than that in the presence of NaCl at 20 mM or 140 mM. PCA (1 mM) significantly elicited 5-HT outflow regardless of the presence or absence of extracellular NaCl. CLM (0.1 mM) failed to produce the outflow of 5-HT at NaCl concentrations less than 20 mM. However, CLM induced a significant increase in 5-HT outflow in the presence of 20 mM NaCl to the same extent as that in the presence of 140 mM NaCl. These results suggest that extracellular NaCl-dependent mechanisms are involved in 5-HT outflow from chicken aortic chemoreceptor cells induced by CLM, while the effect of PCA on 5-HT outflow is independent of extracellular NaCl.



Fig. 9. Effects of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> removal on 5-HT outflow induced by PCA and 5-HT uptake inhibitors.

The resting 5-HT outflow (control, n = 4-5) and the outflow of 5-HT in response to PCA (1 mM), CLM (0.1 mM), fluvoxamine (0.1 mM) and fluoxetine (0.1 mM) for 10 min at 37°C in the presence (open columns) and absence (hatched columns) of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> were examined. Data are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. and numbers in the column indicate numbers of experiments.



Fig. 10. Effect of L-and N-type Ca<sup>2+</sup>channel blockers on PCA-induced 5-HT outflow.

The resting 5-HT outflow (control, n = 4-5) and the outflow of 5-HT induced by PCA

(1 mM) in the presence of  $\omega$ -conotoxin GVIA (CTX, 1  $\mu$ M), or nifedipine (Nif, 1  $\mu$ M).

Data are means  $\pm$  S.E.M.



Fig. 11. Effects of extracellular NaCl on 5-HT outflow induced by PCA and CLM.

The resting 5-HT outflow (control, n = 4-8, open columns) and the 5-HT outflow in response to PCA (1 mM, n = 4-7, filled columns) and CLM (0.1 mM, n = 4, hatched columns) at 0, 10, 20 and 140 mM NaCl. Data are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*P < 0.05 and \*\*P < 0.01 vs. control (Dunnett's test).

#### 4. Discussion

The present results demonstrated that amphetamine derivatives, MET and PCA, and 5-HT uptake inhibitors, fluoxetine, fluvoxamine and CLM, concentration-dependently increased 5-HT outflow from chemoreceptor cells of chicken thoracic aorta. 5-HT outflows by these drugs were temperature-dependent and extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent responses. CLM but not PCA increased 5-HT outflow in an extracellular NaCl-dependent manner.

It has been shown that 5-HT is localized in the epithelioid cells in the wall of the chicken aorta, forming a band of ~ 1 mm in width (Miyoshi et al., 1995), indicating that 5-HT outflow from the chicken aorta arises from these epithelioid cells. Our group has reported that these cells are chemoreceptor cells and that the chicken aorta containing these cells (chemoreceptive ring) release 5-HT in response to nicotinic agonists, depolarization and hypoxia (Ito et al., 1997, 1999, 2001). In this study, amphetamine derivatives increased 5-HT outflow from chicken thoracic aorta. It has been well established that amphetamine derivatives enhance the outflow of monoamine neurotransmitters. MET and PCA are capable of effluxing <sup>3</sup>H-dopamine and <sup>3</sup>H-5-HT from rat brain synaptosomes (Berger et al., 1992; McKenna et al., 1991), and thus amphetamine derivatives decrease tissue content of these neurotransmitters in several brain regions (Murnane et al., 2012). It is reported that amphetamine derivatives are capable of enhancing reverse transport of monoamines resulting in their efflux from neurons (Robertson et al., 2009; Heal et al., 2013). The amphetamine derivatives inhibit VMAT and MAO in 5-HT-containing neurons (Sulzer et al., 2005; Fleckenstein et al., 2009) which increase cytosolic 5-HT concentration. Taken

together, it is suggested that PCA and MET promote 5-HT outflow by reversing the 5-HT transport across the cellular membrane in chicken chemoreceptor cells (Fig. 12A). In the present study, PCA was more effective in increasing 5-HT outflow than MET. It is also reported that PCA is about ten times more potent for 5-HT outflow than MET in the rat brain synaptosomes (Berger et al., 1992). From these results, it is suggested that chemoreceptor cells of chicken thoracic aorta have a similar sensitivity to amphetamine derivatives to 5-HT-containing neurons in the mammalian CNS.

5-HT uptake inhibitors such as CLM, fluoxetine and fluvoxamine are reported to elicit 5-HT outflow from various regions of the brain (Bel and Artigas, 1992; Fuller, 1994; Beyer and Cremers, 2008; Nagayasu et al., 2013). These drugs are well-known to inhibit the reuptake of 5-HT released from the neurons by blocking plasma membrane 5-HT transporters (Rothman and Baumann, 2003; Slattery et al., 2004; Kristensen et al., 2011). This was also the case in the chicken aortic chemoreceptor cells, in which these inhibitors were also effective in increasing 5-HT outflow. These results suggest that, like the 5-HT-containing neurons, these chemoreceptor cells express 5-HT transporters (serotonin transporters, SERT) on their plasma membrane (Fig. 12B). Potencies of 5-HT uptake inhibitors including fluoxetine on 5-HT outflow are different (Nagayasu et al., 2013). In this study, however, there were no differences in the potency among CLM, fluoxetine and fluvoxamine on 5-HT outflow, although they had different K<sub>i</sub> values for binding to human 5-HT transporters (Apparsundaram et al., 2008). This discrepancy may be explained by (1) the short drug incubation period of 10 min and (2) the reduction of inward currents through basal K<sup>+</sup> channels by high concentrations of 5-HT uptake inhibitors (Kobayashi et al., 2004). Alternatively, (3) chicken 5-HT transporters might have different sensitivity to these



Fig. 12. 5-HT outflow from chemoreceptor cells in the chicken thoracic aorta by amphetamine derivatives and 5-HT uptake inhibitors

(A) 5-HT is transported by VMAT to secretory vesicles and then stored. Alternatively, 5-HT is metabolized to 5-HIAA by MAO. The amphetamine derivatives increase the cytosolic 5-HT concentration by inhibiting VMAT and MAO. The cytosolic 5-HT leaks out across the cellular membrane into the extracellular space. (B) 5-HT is spontaneously released from the chemoreceptor cells in the chicken thoracic aorta. 5-HT uptake inhibitors increase the extracellular 5-HT concentration by inhibiting NaCl-dependent serotonin transporter (SERT).

drugs from the mammalian neurons. Further investigation is needed to address this issue.

In this study, spontaneous 5-HT outflow was not affected by extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  removal. 5-HT uptake inhibitors increased 5-HT outflow even in the absence of extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ , indicating that spontaneous and the 5-HT uptake inhibitor-evoked 5-HT outflows are not due to  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent exocytosis. Amphetamine derivatives are reported to promote 5-HT outflow in an extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ -independent manner (Wichems et al., 1995) and in both  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent and independent manners in synaptosomes, suggesting that the former is associated with  $Ca^{2+}$  influx through voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  channels and the latter with carrier-mediated release (Crepsi et al., 1997). In this study, however, we did not observe the  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent 5-HT outflow in response to PCA. This difference may be explained by a difference in preparations, i.e., synaptosomes and chemoreceptor cells, which may have different compartmentalization of 5-HT (Gobbi et al., 2002).

In the 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells, the lowering of extracellular NaCl to 10 mM or below increased the spontaneous 5-HT outflow. Low NaCl also increases catecholamine outflow from the cat adrenal medulla (Teraoka et al., 1990). Activities of monoamine transporters including 5-HT transporters are coupled with extracellular NaCl (Sitte et al., 2001; Adams and DeFelice, 2002; Quick, 2003), with an EC<sub>50</sub> of about 15 mM (Seidel et al., 2005) or less (Sitte et al., 2001). It is likely that the increase in spontaneous 5-HT outflow at low NaCl results from the inhibition of 5-HT transporters, because CLM failed to induce 5-HT outflow at low NaCl, under which 5-HT transporter activity has already been attenuated. This hypothesis was supported by the fact that CLM produced 5-HT outflow at more than 20 mM NaCl.
Unlike CLM, however, 5-HT outflow induced by PCA was not affected by the lowering extracellular NaCl concentration, indicating that the mechanisms producing 5-HT outflow by CLM are different from those by amphetamine derivatives.

# **Chapter II**

# Effects of H<sub>2</sub>S on 5-HT-contaning chemoreceptor cells in chicken thoracic aorta

## **1. Introduction**

5-HT-containing epithelioid cells in the chicken thoracic aorta are chemoreceptor cells because of their similar morphological and functional characteristics to mammalian carotid chemoreceptor cells. Recently, it has been reported that endogenous  $H_2S$  is a key mediator of the hypoxic response in a variety of  $O_2$ -sensitive tissues including carotid body (Olson et al., 2006, 2008, Olson and Whitfield, 2010; Dombkowski et al., 2011 Olson, 2015).

 $H_2S$  is considered to be one of the gasotransmitters. It has been report that  $H_2S$  is produced in the mammalian cells and plays important roles in various biological functions (Kimura, 2011). Several enzymes such as cystathionine- $\beta$ -synthase (CBS) and cystathionine- $\gamma$ -lyase (CSE) produce  $H_2S$  (Olson, 2015). In rodent carotid glomus cells, CBS- and CSE-catalyzed  $H_2S$  is reported to mediate the carotid response to hypoxia (Li et al., 2010; Smith and Yuan, 2012; Prabhakar, 2012; Makarenko et al., 2012). Exogenous  $H_2S$  also activates carotid body type I cells in rat, cat and rabbit (Buckler, 2012; Jiao et al., 2015).

 $H_2S$  affects a variety of ion channels and receptors (Tang et al., 2010) including transient receptor potential (TRP) A1 and V1 channels and voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels. TRPA1 and TRPV1 are members of the TRP channel family, which serve to increase membrane cation permeability in both excitable and non-excitable cells (Venkatachalam and Montell, 2007; Gees et al., 2010). H<sub>2</sub>S activates TRPA1 and TRPV1 in the smooth muscles of the urinary bladder, airways, and gastrointestinal tract (Trevisani et al., 2005; Streng et al., 2008; Tang et al., 2010). Our group has previously shown that H<sub>2</sub>S activates TRPA1 and evokes  $Ca^{2+}$  signals in rat sensory neurons (Miyamoto et al., 2011) and RIN14B cells, which induces 5-HT release (Ujike et al., 2015). H<sub>2</sub>S is oxidized to polysulfides (H<sub>2</sub>S<sub>n</sub>), which activate ion channels with a greater potency than that of H<sub>2</sub>S. It has recently been reported that sodium trisulfide (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub>) is found in the brain and also activates TRPA1 in the astrocytes (Kimura et al., 2013, 2015).

In cultured smooth muscle cells from gastric fundus of mice, H<sub>2</sub>S reportedly elicits depolarization and then activates of L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels, resulting in an increase in the intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration ( $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ ) (Meng et al., 2015). In the rodent carotid glomus cells, H<sub>2</sub>S increases the  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ , which is inhibited by a L-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel blocker (Makarenko et al., 2012) and removal of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Peng et al., 2010). Our group's previous study has indicated that 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta have voltage-dependent L- and N-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels, and that 5-HT release by depolarization is abolished by nifedipine and  $\omega$ -conotoxin GVIA, L- and N-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel blockers, respectively (Ito et al., 1999).

In this Chapter, the aim of my study is to investigate the effect of NaHS, an  $H_2S$  donor, on the 5-HT release from chemoreceptor cells in the chicken thoracic aorta. To reveal the mechanism of action of  $H_2S$ , the effects of TRP and voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel blockers on 5-HT release were examined. In addition, the expression of TRPA1 in 5-HT-containing epithelioid cells of the chicken thoracic aorta was detected.

## 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Animals

2.2. Preparation of aortic tissue

#### 2.3. Measurement of 5-HT outflow

These are the same as those in Chapter I.

#### 2.4. Immunohistochemistry

The aortic strips containing the chemoreceptive ring were cut longitudinally, stretched into a sheet and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) at 4°C overnight. PBS with the following composition was used (mM): NaCl 137. Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> 8.1, KCl 2.7, KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.5. For whole mount immunohistochemical labeling, the tissues were treated with 1% Triton X-100 in PBS for 30 min three times and incubated in blocking solution (1% normal horse serum with 1% Triton X-100 in PBS). The tissues were incubated with 6%  $H_2O_2$  in methanol at room temperature for 1 h to block endogenous peroxidase. The tissues were then incubated with primary antibody, anti-5-HT (1:50, 5-HT-H209, Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO, USA), and anti-TRPA1 antibody (1:1000, ab58844, Abcam, Cambridge, UK) in blocking solution at 4°C for 2 days. Visualization of the primary antibodies was performed using commercially available kits (VECTASTAIN Universal ABC kit Elite, Peroxidase substrate kit, Vector laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The tissues were mounted on glass slides with glycerol and images were captured through an all-in-one fluorescence microscope (BZ-710; Keyence, Osaka, Japan). For double immunofluorescence,

paraffin-embedded sections (3  $\mu$ m) of aortic strips were deparaffinized in xylene and rehydrated through a graded alcohol series. The tissues were treated with methanol containing 0.3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. After blocking with 5% normal donkey serum, the sections were incubated with anti-5-HT (1:50, 5-HT-H209, Novus Biologicals) and anti-TRPA1 antibodies (1:400, ab58844, Abcam) at 4°C overnight. Next, the sections were treated with Alexa Fluor 546 conjugate donkey anti-mouse IgG antibody (1:500, A10040, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and Alexa Fluor 488 conjugate donkey anti-Rabbit IgG antibody (1:500, A-21206, Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 30 min at room temperature for 5-HT and TRPA1, respectively. Nuclei were labeled with Hoechst 33342 (1:5000, Dojindo, Kumamoto, Japan) for 5 min at room temperature. Digital images of sections were acquired through an all-in-one fluorescence microscope (BZX-710; Keyence). For checking of the antibody specificity, we confirmed that negative control staining without primary antibody incubation showed no positive reaction in immunofluorescence study.

# 2.5. Drugs

Following drugs were used. Sodium hydrosulfide (NaHS) (Strem Chemicals, Newburyport, MA, USA), nifedipine, ruthenium red (Wako Pure Chemical Industries, Osaka, Japan), φ-conotoxin GVIA (Peptide Institute, Osaka, Japan), HC030031, SB366791 (Tocris, Bristol, UK), and trans-cinnamaldehyde (Aldrich Chemistry, St Louis, USA) were prepared from stock solutions and dissolved in the Hepes-buffered saline solution. Sodium trisulfide (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub>) (Dojindo, Kumamoto, Japan) was prepared made just before use.

# 2.6. Data analysis

All data were expressed as means  $\pm$  S.E.M. Statistical comparisons between two groups were performed by unpaired Student's *t*-test. For multiple comparisons, one-way ANOVA, followed by Dunnett's test or Williams' test, were used. A P value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

# **3. Results**

# 3.1. Concentration-dependent outflow of 5-HT by H<sub>2</sub>S

The effect of NaHS, an H<sub>2</sub>S donor, on 5-HT outflow from chicken thoracic aorta was examined. Chicken aorta with a 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor ring was incubated at 37°C for 10 min in the Hepes-buffered solution containing various concentrations of NaHS. In the absence of NaHS, 5-HT outflow was around 6% during 10 min-incubation time. This outflow was considered to be the resting release of 5-HT from 5-HT-containing cells. NaHS (30  $\mu$ M-3 mM) caused a concentration-dependent increase in 5-HT outflow (Fig. 13). These results suggest that H<sub>2</sub>S is capable of releasing 5-HT from chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta.

# 3.2. Extracellular $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent outflow of 5-HT by $H_2S$

It has been previously shown that 5-HT release from chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta during hypoxia depends on  $Ca^{2+}$  influx through voltage-dependent L- and N-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channels (Ito et al., 1999). Therefore, next, the effect of extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  on the 5-HT outflow induced by H<sub>2</sub>S was examined (Fig. 14). 5-HT outflow in the presence of NaHS (0.3-3 mM) in the normal solution was statistically higher than the resting release (control). Although the resting 5-HT outflow was not affected by the removal of extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ , 5-HT outflow in response to 0.3 mM NaHS was abolished by the removal of extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ . On the other hand, 5-HT outflow evoked by 1 and 3 mM NaHS was significantly reduced but not abolished by the removal of extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ .



Fig. 13. Effect of H<sub>2</sub>S on 5-HT outflow

Concentration-dependent increase in 5-HT outflow in response to NaHS (30  $\mu$ M-3 mM) for 10 min at 37°C (n = 5-14). Data are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. Dashed line indicates the resting release of 5-HT. \*P < 0.05 vs. resting release (Williams' test).



Fig. 14. Effects of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> removal on 5-HT outflow induced by H<sub>2</sub>S.

The resting 5-HT outflow (control, n = 14) and the outflow of 5-HT in response to  $H_2S$  (0.3-3 mM, n = 5-8) for 10 min at 37°C in the presence (black columns) and absence of (hatched columns) of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> (0.5 mM EGTA). The values in the black columns were taken from Fig. 13. Data are means ± S.E.M. \*P < 0.05 vs. control (Williams' test), <sup>##</sup>P < 0.01 vs. NaHS/2.5 mM Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Student's *t*-test).

 $H_2S$  is largely dependent on extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$ , whereas the resting release of 5-HT is not. A small amount of 5-HT appeared to be released even in the absence of extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  in response to high concentrations of  $H_2S$ .

# 3.3. Contribution of voltage-dependent $Ca^{2+}$ channels to outflow of 5-HT by $H_2S$

It has been reported that  $H_2S$  increases the  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  and induces  $Ca^{2+}$  waves in cultured astrocytes and hippocampal slices, which are blocked by inhibitors of various types of  $Ca^{2+}$  channel including L- and N-types (Nagai et al., 2004). Therefore, the effects of voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  channel blockers on the 5-HT outflow in response to  $H_2S$  were examined (Fig. 15). 5-HT outflow induced by 0.3 mM NaHS was significantly higher than the resting release. However, it was significantly inhibited by nifedipine (1  $\mu$ M) or  $\omega$ -conotoxin GVIA (1  $\mu$ M), which are L- and N-type voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  channel blockers, respectively. These results suggest that voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  channels are involved in 5-HT release from the chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta.

# 3.4. Contribution of TRPA1 channels to outflow of 5-HT by H<sub>2</sub>S

 $H_2S$  reportedly activates TRPV1 in the airway and the urinary bladder (Trevisani et al., 2005; Patacchini et al., 2005). In addition, TRPA1 is activated by  $H_2S$  in neuronal and secretory cells (Miyamoto et al., 2011; Ujike et al., 2015). Therefore, the effects of TRPA1 and TRPV1 channel blockers on 5-HT outflow evoked by  $H_2S$  were



Fig. 15. Effects of L-and N-type  $Ca^{2+}$  channel blockers on 5-HT outflow by  $H_2S$ .

The resting 5-HT outflow (n=11, resting release) and the outflow of 5-HT induced by NaHS (0.3 mM, n=14) in the absence and presence of nifedipine (Nif, 1  $\mu$ M, n = 11) or  $\omega$ -conotoxin GVIA (CTX, 1  $\mu$ M, n = 13). Data are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*\*P < 0.01 vs. basal release, <sup>##</sup>P < 0.01 vs. control (Dunnett's test).



Fig. 16. Effects of TRP channel blockers on 5-HT outflow by H<sub>2</sub>S

The resting 5-HT outflow (resting release, n = 5) and the outflow of 5-HT induced by NaHS (0.3 mM, n = 7) in the absence and presence of ruthenium red (RR, 30  $\mu$ M, n=4), HC030031 (HC, 0.3 mM, n = 6) or SB366791 (SB, 0.3 mM, n = 6). Data are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*\*P < 0.01 vs. resting release, <sup>##</sup>P < 0.01 vs. control (Dunnett's test). examined (Fig. 16). 5-HT outflow induced by 0.3 mM NaHS (control) was significantly higher than the resting release. The effect of NaHS (0.3 mM) on 5-HT outflow was significantly inhibited by ruthenium red (30  $\mu$ M, a non-selective TRP channel blocker) and HC030031 (0.3 mM, a selective TRPA1 channel blocker) but not by SB366791 (0.3 mM, a selective TRPV1 channel blocker). These results suggest that TRPA1 channels are also involved in the H<sub>2</sub>S-evoked 5-HT release from the chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta.

#### 3.5. Concentration-dependent outflow of 5-HT by cinnamaldehyde

TRPA1 is activated by a variety of plant-derived and environmental irritants, such as cinnamaldehyde, isothiocyanate, allicin, and acrolein (Bandell et al., 2004; Bautista et al., 2006; Iwasaki et al., 2008), all of which interact with cysteine residues in the ion channel protein (Bautista et al., 2006; Macpherson et al., 2007). Therefore, the effect of cinnamaldehyde, a TRPA1 agonist, on 5-HT outflow was examined to confirm the contribution of TRPA1 to 5-HT outflow from chicken thoracic aorta with chemoreceptive ring.

Cinnamaldehyde (0.1-3 mM) caused a concentration-dependent increase in 5-HT outflow (Fig. 17A), and more than 0.3 mM of cinnamaldehyde caused a significant outflow of 5-HT. Next, the effect of TRPA1 channel blocker on the 5-HT outflow evoked by cinnamaldehyde was examined. The cinnamaldehyde (0.3 mM)-evoked 5-HT outflow was significantly higher than the resting release. The cinnamaldehyde-induced 5-HT outflow was significantly inhibited by HC030031



Fig. 17. Effect of cinnamaldehyde on 5-HT outflow

(A) Concentration-dependent increase in 5-HT outflow in response to cinnamaldehyde (0.1-3 mM) for 10 min at 37°C (n = 4-10). Dashed line indicates the resting release of 5-HT. (B) The resting 5-HT outflow (resting release, n = 5) and the outflow of 5-HT induced by cinnamaldehyde (0.3 mM, n = 9) in the absence and presence of HC030031 (HC, 0.3 mM, n=8). Data are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*\*P < 0.01 vs. resting release, <sup>#</sup>P < 0.05 vs. control (Dunnett's test).

(0.3 mM) (Fig. 17B). These results confirm our idea that TRPA1 is involved in  $H_2S$ -evoked 5-HT release from the chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta.

# 3.6. Concentration-dependent outflow of 5-HT by $Na_2S_3$

Polysulfide, a mixture of substances with varying numbers of sulfurs ( $H_2S_n$ ), is generated from  $H_2S$  by 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (3-MST) (Kimura et al., 2015). It has recently been reported that polysulfide such as Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> excites mouse sensory neurons via the activation of TRPA1 and causes acute pain (Hatakeyama et al., 2015). Therefore, the effect of Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> on 5-HT outflow from chicken thoracic aorta with a chemoreceptive ring was examined. As shown in Fig 18A, Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> (3-30  $\mu$ M) caused a concentration-dependent and significant increase in 5-HT outflow. Next, the effect of TRPA1 channel blocker on 5-HT outflow evoked by Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> was examined. The Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> (10  $\mu$ M)-evoked 5-HT outflow was significantly higher than the resting release. The Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> (10  $\mu$ M)-induced 5-HT outflow was significantly inhibited by HC030031 (0.3 mM) (Fig. 18B). These results suggest that Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> has an effect similar to H<sub>2</sub>S to stimulate the chemoreceptor cells through TRPA1.

#### 3.7. Expression of TRPA1 in 5-HT-containing cells

TRPA1 channels are expressed in numerous excitable and non-excitable cells and involved in manifold physiological and pathological functions in the body (Fernandes et al, 2012; Mori et al., 2016). In this study, the expression of TRPA1 protein in the chicken thoracic aorta was examined. The distribution of TRPA1 in the



Fig. 18. Effect of Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> on 5-HT outflow

(A) Concentration-dependent increase in 5-HT outflow in response to Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> for 10 min at 37°C (n = 6). Dashed line indicates the resting release of 5-HT. (B) The resting 5-HT outflow (resting release, n = 6) and outflow of 5-HT induced by Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> (10  $\mu$ M, n = 7) in the absence and presence of HC030031 (HC, 0.3 mM, n = 5). Data are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. \*P < 0.05 vs. basal release, <sup>#</sup>P < 0.05 vs. control (Dunnett's test).

tissue was first examined by immunohistochemical analysis using whole mount preparation. TRPA1 immunoreactivity was detected in the wall of the chicken aorta (Fig. 19). The area of TRPA1 expression was similar to that of 5-HT immunoreactive cells (i.e; the chemoreceptive ring). Next, double immunofluorescence analysis for TRPA1 and 5-HT was examined (Fig. 20). Both TRPA1 and 5-HT immunoreactivities were detected near the surface of the aortic wall. In addition, TRPA1 expression was localized to 5-HT-containing cells. These results suggest that TRPA1 is expressed in the 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells in the chicken thoracic aorta.



# Fig. 19. Distribution of TRPA1 and 5-HT in the chicken thoracic aorta with chemoreceptive ring

Distribution of TRPA1 (a) and 5-HT immunoreactive cells (c) in the inner wall of the chicken thoracic aorta. High magnification images of TRPA1 (b) and 5-HT (d) immunoreactive clusters from the boxed regions of (a) and (c). Scale bars indicate 400  $\mu$ m (a and c), 100  $\mu$ m (b and d).



Fig. 20. Double immunofluorescence labeling for TRPA1 and 5-HT in the chicken thoracic aorta with chemoreceptive ring

Immunofluorescence labeling of TRPA1 (a) and 5-HT (b) in the chicken aorta. (c) TRPA1-expressing 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells are indicated by arrows. (d, e and f) High magnification images from boxed regions of (a), (b), and (c), respectively. Dotted lines are indicating the border between vascular endothelium and lumen on the images. Scale bars indicate 200  $\mu$ m (a-c), and 50  $\mu$ m (d-f).

## 4. Discussion

In this study, we found that  $H_2S$  caused a concentration-dependent increase in 5-HT release from chicken thoracic aorta with the chemoreceptive ring, which was inhibited by the removal of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>. The H<sub>2</sub>S-evoked 5-HT outflow was also inhibited by voltage-dependent L- or N-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel blocker and a selective TRPA1 channel blocker. Cinnamaldehyde, a TRPA1 agonist, and Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub>, a polysulfide, mimicked the secretory response to H<sub>2</sub>S. The expression of TRPA1 was localized to 5-HT-containing epithelioid cells in the aortic wall.

H<sub>2</sub>S releases catecholamine from rat and trout adrenal chromaffin cells and 5-HT from RIN14B cells in a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent manner (Perry et al., 2009; Zhu et al., 2012; Ujike et al., 2015). In the present study, H<sub>2</sub>S triggered 5-HT release from the chicken aortic preparation, and this release was markedly reduced by the removal of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>, suggesting that H<sub>2</sub>S caused Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent exocytosis of 5-HT. On the other hand, perceptible release of 5-HT in response to H<sub>2</sub>S at high concentrations was observed even in the absence of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>. It is reported that some secretagogues cause catecholamine secretion from adrenal chromaffin cells by mediating intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilization even in the absence of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Asano et al., 1995). In this experiment, although we did not examine this phenomenon precisely, similar mechanisms might be involved in 5-HT release from chicken chemoreceptor cells in response to H<sub>2</sub>S at high concentrations.

TRPA1 channels are non-selective cationic channels permeable to  $Na^+$  and  $Ca^+$ (Gees et al., 2010). Our group has previously shown that H<sub>2</sub>S stimulates rat sensory neurons and RIN14B cells via the activation of TRPA1 (Miyamoto et al., 2011; Ujike et al., 2015). It has been reported that H<sub>2</sub>S evokes time- and concentration-dependent increases in the  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  in CHO cells expressing mouse or human TRPA1 (Streng et al., 2008). A TRPA1 agonist causes  $Ca^{2+}$  influx and 5-HT release from rat enterochromaffin cells (Nozowa et al., 2009). In this study, 5-HT release by H<sub>2</sub>S was significantly inhibited by a non-selective TRP blocker (ruthenium red) and a selective TRPA1 blocker (HC030031). In addition, a TRPA1 agonist (cinnamaldehyde) mimicked the secretory response to  $H_2S$ . These results suggest that  $H_2S$  activates TRPA1 in the chicken thoracic chemoreceptor cells and releases 5-HT. TRPA1 is expressed in many kinds of neuronal and non-neuronal cells (Smith et al., 2004; Du et al., 2007; Atoyan et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2012; Cho et al., 2014). In this study, it was found that TRPA1 was localized to 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta. It is also reported that H<sub>2</sub>S is capable of activating TRPV1 in sensory neurons (Trevisani et al., 2005; Patacchini et al., 2005). However, TRPV1 is unlikely to be involved in 5-HT release by H<sub>2</sub>S in chicken aortic chemoreceptor cells because 5-HT release was not inhibited by a selective TRPV1 blocker (SB366791). In addition, it has recently been reported that polysulfide salts, i.e., sodium tri-and tetrasulfide (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> and Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>4</sub>), activate TRPA1 channels in astrocytes much more potently than  $H_2S$  (Kimura et al., 2013, 2015). This was also the case in the present study that  $Na_2S_3$ increased 5-HT release by the activation of TRPA1. Taken together, it is concluded that TRPA1 plays an essential role in the H<sub>2</sub>S and Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub>-induced 5-HT release from chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta.

The TRPA1 activation produces depolarization through the increase in membrane  $Na^+$  permeability in addition to  $Ca^{2+}$  (Raisinghani et al., 2011), which in

turn elicits further Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry through voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels. There are two possible pathways to induce Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry into chemoreceptor cells in response to H<sub>2</sub>S (Fig. 21); one could involve TRPA1 channels with its high Ca<sup>2+</sup> permeability, while the other could involve voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels stimulated by the depolarization associated with TRPA1 activation. It has been reported that H<sub>2</sub>S increases the [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub> and induces Ca<sup>2+</sup> waves in cultured astrocytes and hippocampal slices, which are also blocked by various types of Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel inhibitors including L- and N-type ones (Nagai et al., 2004). In the present study, 5-HT release by H<sub>2</sub>S was abolished by nifedipine and  $\omega$ -conotoxin GVIA (respective L- and N-type voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel blockers). Thus, it is suggested that Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry via L- and N-type Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels, but not direct Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry via TRPA1 channels, plays a major role in 5-HT release triggered by H<sub>2</sub>S in the chicken aortic chemoreceptor cells.

In mammals, pyridoxal 5'-phosphate-dependent enzymes such as CBS and CSE produce H<sub>2</sub>S either from cysteine or from the combination of cysteine and homocysteine. In addition, H<sub>2</sub>S is also synthesized from cysteine by 3-MST in conjunction with cysteine aminotransferase (Kamoun, 2004; Kimura, 2011; Mikami et al., 2011; Olson, 2015; Kimura et al., 2013). Endogenous H<sub>2</sub>S functions as an oxygen sensor in various tissues(Olson, 2015; Olson et al., 2008). Recently, H<sub>2</sub>S generated by CSE and CBS was shown to be a physiological mediator of carotid body responses to hypoxia (Li et al., 2010; Makarenko et al., 2012; Prabhakar, 2012). The chemoreceptor cells in the chick aorta have similar morphological and functional characteristics to mammalian carotid chemoreceptor cells (Miyoshi et al., 1995; Ito et al., 2001). In addition, TRPA1 plays a critical role in the O<sub>2</sub> sensing of vagal and



Fig. 21. 5-HT release from chemoreceptor cells in the chicken thoracic aorta by H<sub>2</sub>S

 $H_2S$  and  $H_2S_n$  activate TRPA1 expressed in chemoreceptor cells, resulting in the membrane depolarization, and  $Ca^{2+}$  entry through voltage-dependent  $Ca^{2+}$  channels and then 5-HT release.

sensory neurons (Takahashi et al., 2011; Mori et al., 2016). A TRPA1 antagonist causes the dose-dependent attenuation of the hypoxic ventilator response, indicating that TRPA1 contributes to the hypoxic chemoreflex in mice (Pokorski et al., 2014). In addition, TRPA1 is a major oxidant sensor in sensory neurons that is activated by hypochlorite and hydrogen peroxide (Bessac et al., 2008). Present results suggest that endogenous  $H_2S$  also contributes to the  $O_2$  sensing of chemoreceptor cells in the chicken aorta via TRPA1. Further investigation is needed to address this issue.

# Conclusion

The present results indicate that amphetamine derivatives and 5-HT uptake inhibitors increase 5-HT outflow from chemoreceptor cells of chicken thoracic aorta. It is suggested that these cells have 5-HT transport, storage and uptake activities, which are similar to those of 5-HT-contaning neurons in the mammalian CNS.

 $H_2S$  triggered the release of 5-HT from the chicken thoracic aorta containing chemoreceptor cells, which was inhibited by TRPA1 and voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel blockers. The expression of TRPA1 was localized to 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells in the aortic wall. It is suggested that  $H_2S$  activates TRPA1 expressed in chemoreceptor cells, resulting in their depolarization, and Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry through voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels and then 5-HT release. The generation of endogenous  $H_2S$  might be associated with O<sub>2</sub> sensitivity in chemoreceptor cells of chicken thoracic aorta via TRPA1.

The chicken thoracic aorta may become a useful model for examining the effects of drugs on 5-HT-containing neurons or chemoreceptor cells *in vitro*, because 5-HT outflow from aortic strips was easily detected with HPLC equipped with an electrochemical detector.

# Summary

In the chicken thoracic aorta, 5-HT-containing cells aggregate and form a band (1 mm width). Because of their similarities in morphological and functional characteristics to mammalian carotid chemoreceptor cells, these cells are also considered as chemoreceptor cells. To reveal the mechanisms of 5-HT release from these cells, I investigated 5-HT outflow from the chemoreceptor cells in the chicken thoracic aorta.

- Amphetamine derivatives, PCA and MET, caused concentration-dependent increases in 5-HT outflow. PCA was more effective in increasing 5-HT outflow than MET. In addition, PCA increased 5-HT outflow in an incubation time- and temperature-dependent manner.
- **2.** 5-HT uptake inhibitors, CLM, fluoxetine and fluvoxamine, caused concentration-dependent increases in 5-HT outflow.
- 3. The outflows of 5-HT induced by PCA and 5-HT uptake inhibitors were not dependent on extracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration. It is suggested that 5-HT uptake inhibitor- and PCA-evoked 5-HT outflows are not due to  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent exocytosis.

- **4.** 5-HT outflow induced by CLM was dependent on extracellular NaCl concentration. On the other hand, the 5-HT outflow by PCA was not affected by extracellular NaCl concentration.
- **5.** It is suggested that CLM suppresses 5-HT uptake by inhibiting membrane 5-HT transporters, which results in the increase in extracellular 5-HT levels. On the other hand, PCA inhibiting VMAT and MAO increases cytosolic 5-HT levels, resulting in enhancing the efflux of 5-HT.
- 6. H<sub>2</sub>S triggered 5-HT release from chemoreceptor cells in the chicken thoracic aorta in a concentration-dependent manner. The release of 5-HT in response to H<sub>2</sub>S was reduced by extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> removal. These results suggest that H<sub>2</sub>S produces 5-HT release from these cells by Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent exocytosis.
- 7. 5-HT release by  $H_2S$  was abolished by nifedipine and  $\omega$ -conotoxin GVIA, L- and N-type voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel blockers, respectively.
- 5-HT release by H<sub>2</sub>S was significantly inhibited by ruthenium red, a non-selective TRP blocker and HC030031, a selective TRPA1 blocker. Cinnamaldehyde, a TRPA1 agonist and Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub>, a polysulfide, mimicked the secretory response to H<sub>2</sub>S.
- 9. The existence of TRPA1-positive cells was detected in the wall of chicken thoracic aorta, which was similar to that of 5-HT-positive cells. Double staining revealed that the expression of TRPA1 was localized in the 5-HT-containing cells.

- 10. The present results have demonstrated that 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells in the chicken thoracic aorta have 5-HT transport, storage and uptake activities, which are similar to those of 5-HT-containing neurons in the mammalian CNS, and that the TRPA1 activation by  $H_2S$  causes depolarization, which activates voltage-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels. The Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry through these Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels is suggested to mainly evoke 5-HT release from the chemoreceptor cells in the chicken thoracic aorta.
- 11. It is suggested that endogenous  $H_2S$  plays a role in the  $O_2$  sensing in chemoreceptor cells of chicken thoracic aorta via TRPA1. The chicken thoracic aorta may become a useful model for examining the effects of drugs on 5-HT-containing neurons or chemoreceptor cells *in vitro*, because 5-HT outflow from aortic strips was easily detected with HPLC equipped with an electrochemical detector.

# Acknowledgment

I would like to thank Associate Professor Ken-ichi Otsuguro, Laboratory of Pharmacology, Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine, Hokkaido University, for his helpful advice, encouragement and full support during my research. I would like to acknowledge Emeritus Professor Shigeo Ito, Laboratory of Pharmacology, Specially Appointed Professor Yoshiaki Habara, Laboratory of Physiology, and Professor Yasuhiro Kon, Laboratory of Anatomy, Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine, Hokkaido University, for their kind willingness to sit on my dissertation committee.

I also would like to thank Assistant Professor Soichiro Yamaguchi, Laboratory of Pharmacology, and Associate Professor Osamu Ichii, Laboratory of Anatomy, Graduate School of Veterinary Medicine, Hokkaido University, for their support for this study.

# References

- Adams SV, DeFelice LJ (2002). Flux coupling in the human serotonin transporter. *Biophys J* 83: 3268–3282.
- Adams HR (2009). Histamine, serotonin, and their Antagonists. In Veterinary pharmacology. Ninth edition. Ed Riviere JE, Papich MG. Wiley-Blackwell: Ames, Iowa, USA. pp 411-427.
- Apparsundaram S, Stockdale DJ, Henningsen RA, Milla M E, Martin RS (2008). Antidepressants targeting the serotonin reuptake transporter act via a competitive mechanism. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 327: 982–990.
- Asano T, Ohta T, Otsuguro K, Ito S, Nakazato Y (1995). Muscarinic receptor subtypes mediating catecholamine secretion and increase in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration in adrenal chromaffin cells of the guinea pig. *J Vet Med Sci* 57: 1067-1071.
- Atoyan R, Shander D, Botchkareva NV (2009). Non-neuronal expression of transient receptor potential type A1 (TRPA1) in human skin. J Invest Dermatol 129: 2312-2315.
- Bandell M, Story GM, Hwang SW, Viswanath V, Eid SR, Petrus MJ, Earley TJ, Patapoutian A (2004). Noxious cold ion channel TRPA1 is activated by pungent compounds and bradykinin. *Neuron* 41: 849-857.
- Bautista DM, Jordt S, Nikai T, Tsuruda PR, Read AJ, Poblete J, Yamoah EN, Basbaum AI, Julius D (2006). TRPA1 mediates the inflammatory actions of environmental irritants and proalgesic agents. *Cell* 124: 1269-1282.

- Bel N, Artigas F (1992). Fluvoxamine preferentially increases extracellular 5-hydroxytryptamine in the raphe nuclei: an in vivo microdialysis study. *Eur J Pharmacol* 229: 101–103.
- Bel N, Artigas F (1996). In vivo of the simultaneous blockade of serotonin and norepinephrine transporters on serotonergic function. Microdialysis studies. J Pharmacol Exper Therap 278: 1064-1072.
- 10. Berger UV, Gu XF, Azmitia EC (1992). The substituted amphetamines 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine, methamphetamine, p-chloroamphetamine and fenfluramine induce 5-hydroxytryptamine release via a common mechanism blocked by fluoxetine and coacaine. *Eur J Pharmacol* 215: 153–160.
- 11. Bessac BF, Sivula M, Xon Hehn CA, Escalera J, Cohn L, Jordt SE (2008). TRPA1
  is a major oxidant sensor in murine airway sensory neurons. *J Clin Invest* 118: 1899-1910.
- 12. Beyer CE, Cremers TI (2008). Do selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors acutely increase frontal cortex levels of serotonin? *Eur J Pharmacol* 580: 350–354.
- Buckler KJ (2012). Effects of exogenous hydrogen sulphide on calcium signaling, background (TASK) K channel activity and mitochondrial function in chemoreceptor cells. *Pflügers Arch* 463: 743-754.
- 14. Cho HJ, Callaghan B, Bron R, Bravo DM, Furness JB (2014). Identification of enteroendocrine cells that express TRPA1 channels in the mouse intestine. *Cell Tissue Res* 356: 77-82.
- 15. Crepsi D, Mennini T, Gobbi M (1997). Carrier–dependent and Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent
  5-HT and dopamine release induced by (+)-amphetamine,

3,4-methylendioxy-methamphetamine,*p*-chloroamphetamine,and(+)-fenfluramine. Br J Pharmacol 121: 1735–1743.

- 16. Dodman NH, Donnelly R, Shuster L, Mertens P, Rand W, Miczek K (1996). Use of fluoxetine to treat dominance aggression in dogs. J Am Vet Assoc 209: 1585-1587.
- 17. Dombkowski RA, Naylor MG, Shoemaker E, Smith M, DeLeon ER, Stoy GF, Gao Y, Olson KR (2011). Hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S) and hypoxia inhibit salmonid gastrointestinal motility: evidence for H<sub>2</sub>S as an oxygen sensor. *J Exp Biol* 214: 4030-4040.
- 18. Du S, Araki I, Yoshiyama M, Nomura T, Takeda M (2007). Transient receptor potential channel A1 involved in sensory transduction or rat urinary bladder through C-fiber pathway. *Urology* 70: 826-831.
- Dvorakova MC, Kummer W (2005). Immunohistochemical evidence for species-specific coexistence of catecholamines, serotonin, acetylcholine and nitric oxide in glomus cells of rat and guinea pig aortic bodies. *Ann Anat* 187: 323-331.
- 20. Fernandes ES, Fernandes MA, Keeble JE (2012). The functions of TRPA1 and TRPV1: moving away from sensory nerves. *Br J Pharmacol* 166: 510-521.
- 21. Fitzgerald KT, Bronstein AC (2013) Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor exposure. *Top Companion Anim Med* 28: 13-17.
- 22. Fleckenstein AE, Volz TJ, Hanson GR (2009). Psychostimulant-induced alterations in vesicular monoamine transporter -2 function: Neurotoxic and therapeutic implications. *Neuropharmacology* 56: 133–138.
- Fuller RW (1994). Uptake inhibitors increase extracellular serotonin concentration measured by brain microdialysis. *Life Sci* 55: 163–167.

- 24. Gees M, Colsoul B, Nilius B (2010). The role of transient receptor potential cation channels in Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling. Cold. Spring. *Harb Perspect Biol* 2:a003962.
- 25. Gobbi M, Moia M, Pirona L, Ceglia I, Reyes-Parada M, Scorza C, Mennini T (2002). p-Methylthioamphetamine and 1-(*m*-chlorophenyl piperazine, two non-neurotoxic 5-HT releasers in vivo, differ from neurotoxic amphetamine derivatives in their mode of action at 5-HT nerve endings *in vitro*. *J Neurochem* 82: 1435–1443.
- 26. Gonzalez C, Almaraz L, Obeso A, Rigual R (1994). Carotid body chemoreceptors: from natural stimuli to sensory discharges. *Physiol Rev* 74: 829-898.
- 27. Hatakeyama Y, Takahashi K, Tominaga M, Kimura H, Ohta T (2015). Polysulfedes evokes acute pain through the activation of nociceptive TRPA1 in mouse sensory neurons. *Mol pain* 11: 24.
- 28. Heal DJ, Smith SL, Gosden J, Nutt DJ (2013). Amphetamine, past and present a pharmacological and clinical perspective. *J Psychopharmacol Rev* 27: 479–496.
- 29. Hiemke C, Hartter S (2000). Pharmacokinetics of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. *Pharmacol Therap* 85: 11-28.
- 30. Ito S, Ohta T, Kasai Y, Yonekubo K, Nakazato Y (2001). Heterogeneity of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells of the chicken aorta. *Br J Pharmacol* 132: 1934–1940.
- 31. Ito S, Ohta T, Nakazato Y (1997). Release of 5-hydroxytryptamine by hypoxia from epithelioid cells of chicken thoracic aorta. *Br J Pharmacol* 122: 799–801.
- 32. Ito S, Ohta T, Nakazato Y (1999). Characteristics of 5-HT-containing chemoreceptor cells of the aortic body. *J Physiol* 515: 49–59.

- 33. Iwasaki Y, Tanabe M, Kobata K, Watanabe T (2008). TRPA1 agonists-allyl isothiocyanate and cinnamaldehyde-induce adrenaline secretion. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem* 72: 2608-2614.
- 34. Jiao Y, Li Q, Sun B, Zhang G, Rong W (2015). Hydrogen sulfide activates the carotid body chemoreceptors in cat, rabbit and rat ex vivo preparations. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 208: 15-20.
- 35. Kamoun P (2004). Endogenous production of hydrogen sulfide in mammals. *Amino Acids* 26: 243-254.
- 36. Kimura H (2011). Hydrogen sulfide: its production, release and functions. Amino Acids 41: 113-121.
- 37. Kimura Y, Mikami Y, Osumi K, Tsugane M, Oka J, Kimura H (2013).
  Polysulfides are possible H<sub>2</sub>S-derived signaling molecules in rat brain. *FASEB J* 27: 2451-2457.
- 38. Kimura Y, Toyofuku Y, Koike S, Shibuya N, Nagahara N, Lefer D, Ogasawara Y, Kimura H (2015). Identification of H<sub>2</sub>S<sub>3</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S produced by 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase in the brain. *Sci Rep* 5: 14774.
- 39. Kobayashi T, Washiyama K, Ikeda K (2004). Inhibition of G protein–activated inwardly rectifying K<sup>+</sup> channels by various antidepressant drugs. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 29: 1841–1851.
- 40. Kristensen AS, Andersen J, Jorgensen TN, Sorensen L, Eriksen J, Loland CJ, Stromgaard K, Gether U (2011). SLC6 Neurotransmitter transporters: Structure, function, and regulation. *Pharmacol Rev* 63: 585–640.
- 41. Lee SM, Cho YS, Kim TH, Jin MU, Ahn DK, Noguchi K, Bae YC (2012). An ultrastructural evidence for the expression of transient receptor potential ankyrin 1

(TRPA1) in astrocytes in the rat trigeminal caudal nucleus. *J Chem Neuroanat* 45: 45-49.

- 42. Li, Q, Sun B, Wang X, Jin Z, Zhou Y, Dong L, Jiang LH, Rong W (2010). A crucial role for hydrogen sulfide in oxygen sensing via modulating large conductance calcium-activated potassium channels. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 12: 1179-1189.
- 43. Macpherson LJ, Dubin AE, Evans MJ, Marr F, Schultz PG, Cravatt B F, Patapoutian A (2007). Noxious compounds activate TRPA1 ion channels through covalent modification of cysteines. *Nature* 445: 541-545.
- 44. Makarenko VV, Nanduri J, Raghuraman G, Fox AP, Gadalla MM, Kumar GK, Snyder SH, Prabhakar NR (2012). Endogenous H<sub>2</sub>S is required for hypoxic sensing by carotid body glomus cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 303: C916-C923.
- 45. McDonald DM, Blewett RV (1981). Location and size of carotid body-like organs (paraganglia) revealed in rats by the permeability of blood vessels to evans blue dye. *J Neurocytol* 10: 607-643.
- 46. McKenna DJ, Guan X M, Shulgin AT (1991). 3,4-Methylenedioxyamphetamine (MDA) analogues exhibit differential effects on synaptosomal release of <sup>3</sup>H-dopamine and <sup>3</sup>H-5-hydroxytryptamine. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 38: 505–512.
- 47. Meng XM, Huang X, Zhang CM, Liu DH, Lu HL, Kim YC, Xu WX (2015). Hydrogen sulfide-induced enhancement of gastric fundus smooth muscle tone is mediated by voltage-dependent potassium and calcium channels in mice. World J Gastroenterol 21: 4840-4851.

- 48. Mikami Y, Shibuya N, Kimura Y, Nagahara N, Ogasawara Y, Kimura H (2011). Thioredoxin and dihydrolipoic acid are required for 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase to produce hydrogen sulfide. *Biochem J* 439: 479-485.
- 49. Miyamoto R, Otsuguro K, Ito S (2011). Time- and concentration-dependent activation of TRPA1 by hydrogen sulfide in rat DRG neurons. *Neurosci Lett* 499: 137-142.
- 50. Miyoshi M, Hashimoto Y, Kon Y, Sugimura M 1995. Distribution of epithelioid cells in the wall of the chicken aorta and their functional role as chemoreceptors. *Anat Rec* 242: 302–309.
- 51. Mori Y, Takahashi N, Polat OK, Kurokawa T, Takeda N, Inoue M (2016). Redox-sensitive transient receptor potential channels in oxygen sensing and adaptation. *Pflügers Arch* 468: 85-97.
- 52. Murnane KS, Perrine SA, Finton BJ, Galloway MP, Howell LL, Fantegrossi WE (2012). Effects of exposure to amphetamine derivatives on passive avoidance performance and the central levels of monoamines and their metabolites in mice: Correlations between behavior and neurochemistry. *Psychopharmacology* 220: 495–508.
- 53. Nagai Y, Tsugane M, Oka J, Kimura H (2004). Hydrogen sulfide induces calcium waves in astrocytes. *FASEB J* 18: 557-559.
- 54. Nagayasu K, Kitaichi M, Nishitani N, Asaoka N, Shirakawa H, Nakagawa T, Kaneko S (2013). Chronic effects of antidepressants on serotonin release in rat raphe slice cultures: high potency of milnacipran in the augmentation of serotonin release. *Int J NeuropsychoPharmacol* 16: 2295–2306.
- 55. Nozowa K, Kawabata-Shota E, Doihara H, Kojima R, Okada , Mochizuki S, Sano Y, Inamura K, Matsushime H, Koizumi T, Yokoyama T, Ito H (2009). TRPA1 regulates gastrointestinal motility through serotonin release from enterochromaffin cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 106: 3408-3413.
- Olson KR (2015). Hydrogen sulfide as an oxygen sensor. Antioxid Redox Signal 22: 377-397.
- 57. Olson KR, Dombkowski RA, Russell MJ, Doellman MM, Head SK, Whitfield NL, Madden JA (2006). Hydrogen sulfide as an oxygen sensor/transducer in vertebrate hypoxic vasoconstriction and hypoxic vasodilation. *J Exp Biol* 209: 4011-4023.
- 58. Olson KR, Healy MJ, Quin Z, Skovgaard N, Vulesevic B, Duff DW, Whitfield NL, Yang G, Wang R, Perry SF (2008). Hydrogen sulfide as an oxygen sensor in trout gill chemoreceptors. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 295: R669-R680.
- 59. Olson KR, Whitfield NL (2010). Hydrogen sulfide and oxygen sensing in the cardiovascular system. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 12: 1219-1234.
- 60. Patacchini R, Santicioli P, Giuliani S, Maggi CA (2005). Pharmacological investigation of hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S) contractile activity in rat detrusor muscle. *Eur J Pharmacol* 509: 171-177.
- Peng Y, Nanduri J, Raghuraman G, Souvannakitti D, Gadalla MM, Kumar GK, Snyder SH, Prabhakar NR (2010). H<sub>2</sub>S mediates O<sub>2</sub> sensing in the carotid body. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 23: 10719-10724.
- 62. Perry SF, McNeill B, Elia E, Nagpal A, Vulesevic B (2009). Hydrogen sulfide stimulates catecholamine secretion in rainbow trout. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 296: R133-R140.

- 63. Piskuric NA, Nurse CA (2012). Effects of chemostimuli on [Ca<sup>2+</sup>]<sub>i</sub> responses of rat aortic body type I cells and endogenous local neurons: comparison with carotid body. *J Physiol* 590: 2121-2135.
- 64. Piskuric NA, Nurse CA (2013). Expanding role of ATP as a versatile messenger at carotid and aortic body chemoreceptors. *J Physiol* 591: 415-422.
- 65. Pokorski M, Takeda K, Sato Y, Okada Y (2014). The hypoxic ventilatory response and TRPA1 antagonism in conscious mice. *Acta Physiol* 210: 928-938.
- 66. Prabhakar NR (2012). Carbon monoxide (CO) and hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S) in hypoxic sensing by the carotid body. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 184: 165-169.
- 67. Quick MW (2003). Regulating the conducting states of a mammalian serotonin transporter. *Neuron* 40: 537–549.
- 68. Raisinghani M, Zhong L, Jeffry JA, Bishnoi M, Pabbidi RM, Pimentel F, Cao D, Evans MS, Premkumar LS (2011). Activation characteristics of transient receptor potential ankyrin 1 and its role in nociception. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 301: C587-C600.
- 69. Reisner IR, Mann JJ, Stanley M, Huang Y, Houpt KA (1996). Comparison of cerebrospinal fluid monoamine metabolite levels in dominant-aggressive and non-aggressive dogs. *Brain Res* 714: 57-64.
- 70. Robertson SD, Matthies HJG, Galli A (2009). A closer look at amphetamine-induced reverse transport and trafficking of the dopamine and norepinephrine transporters. *Mol Neurobiol* 39:73–80.
- Rothman RB, Baumann MH (2003). Monoamine transporters and psychostimulant drugs. *Eur J Pharmacol* 479: 23–40.

- 72. Rudnick G, Wall SC (1992). *p*-Chloroamphetamine induces serotonin release through serotonin transporters. *Biochemistry* 31: 6710–6718.
- 73. Seidel S, Singer EA, Just H, Farhan H, Scholze P, Kudlacek O, Holy M, Koppatz K, Krivanek P, Freissmuth M, Sitte HH (2005). Amphetamines take two to tango: an oligomer-based counter-transport model of neurotransmitter transport explores the amphetamine action. *Mol Pharmacol* 67: 140–151.
- 74. Seksel K, Lindeman MJ (2001). Use of clomipramine in treatment of obsessive-compulsive disorder, separation anxiety and noise phobia in dogs: a preliminary, clinical study. *Aust Vet J* 79: 252-256.
- 75. Sherman BL, Papich MG (2009). Drugs affecting animal behavior. In Veterinary pharmacology. Ninth edition. ed Riviere JE, Papich MG. Wiley-Blackwell: Ames, Iowa, USA. pp 509-538.
- 76. Sitte HH, Hiptmair B, Zwach J, Pifl C, Singer EA, Scholze P (2001). Quantitative analysis of inward and outward transport rates in cells stably expressing the cloned human serotonin transporter: Inconsistencies with the hypothesis of facilitated exchange diffusion. *Mol Pharmacol* 59: 1129–1137.
- 77. Slattery DA, Hudson AL, Nutt DJ (2004). Invited review: the evolution of antidepressant mechanisms. *Fund Clin Pharmacol* 18: 1–21.
- 78. Smith KA, Yuan JX (2012). H<sub>2</sub>S, a gasotransmitter for oxygen sensing in carotid body. Focus on "Endogenous H<sub>2</sub>S required for hypoxic sensing by carotid body glomus cells". *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 303: C911-C912.
- 79. Smith MP, Beacham D, Ensor E, Koltzenburg M (2004). Cold-sensitive, menthol-insensitive neurons in the murine symphathetic nervous system. *Neuroreport* 15: 1399-1403.

- 80. Streng T, Axelsson HE, Hedlund P, Andersson DA, Jordt S, Bevan S, Andersson K, Högestätt ED, Zygmunt PM (2008). Distribution and function of the hydrogen sulfide-sensitive TRPA1 ion channel in rat urinary bladder. *Eur Urol* 53: 391-400.
- Sulzer D, Sonders MS, Poulsen NW, Galli A (2005). Mechanisms of neurotransmitter release by amphetamines. *Prog Neurobiol* 75: 406–433.
- Takahashi N, Kuwaki T, Kiyonaka S, Numata T, Kozai D, Mizuno Y, Yamamoto S, Naito S, Knevels E, Carmeliet P, Oga T, Kaneko S, Suga S, Nokami T, Yoshida J, Mori Y (2011). TRPA1 underlies a sensing mechanism for O<sub>2</sub>. *Nat Chem Biol* 7: 701-711.
- Tang G, Wu L, Wang R (2010). Interaction of hydrogen sulfide with ion channels. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* 37: 753-763.
- 84. Tatsumi M, Groshan K, Blakely RD, Richelson E (1997). Pharmacological profile of antidepressants and related compounds at human monoamine transporters. *Eur J Pharmacol* 340: 249-258.
- 85. Teraoka H, Yamada Y, Nakazato Y, Ohga A (1990). The role of Na<sup>+</sup> in muscarinic receptor-mediated catecholamine secretion in the absence of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> in cat perfused adrenal glands. *Br J Pharmacol* 101: 67–72.
- 86. Trevisani M, Patacchini R, Nicoletti P, Gatti R, Gazzieri D, Lissi N, Zagli G, Creminon C, Geppetti P, Harrison S (2005). Hydrogen sulfide causes vanilloid receptor 1-mediated neurogenic inflammation in the airways. *Br J Pharmacol* 145: 1123-1131.
- 87. Ujike A, Otsuguro K, Miyamoto R, Yamaguchi S, Ito S (2015). Bidirectional effects of hydrogen sulfide via ATP-sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channels and transient receptor potential A1 channels in RIN14B cells. *Eur J Pharmacol* 764: 463-470.

- Venkatachalam K, Montell C (2007). TRP channels. Annu Rev Biochem 76: 387-417.
- Walther, D. J., Peter, J., Bashammakh, S., Hortnagl, H., Voits, M., Fink, H and Bader, M (2003). Synthesis of serotonin by a second tryptophan hydroxylase isoform. *Science* 299:76.
- 90. Wichems CH, Hollingsworth CK, Bennett BA (1995). Release of serotonin induced by 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA) and other substituted amphetamines in cultured fetal raphe neurons: further evidence for calcium-independent mechanisms of release. *Brain Res* 695: 10–18.
- 91. Yamamoto M, Kondo H, Nagatu I (1989). Immunohistochemical demonstration of tyrosine hydroxylase, serotonin and neuropeptide tyrosine in the epithelioid cells within arterial walls and carotid bodies of chicks. *J Anat* 167: 137-146.
- 92. Zhu D, Yu X, Sun J, Li J, Ma X, Yao W (2012). H<sub>2</sub>S induces catecholamine secretion in rat adrenal chromaffin cells. *Toxicology* 302: 40-43.